
1 
 

INLAND WETLANDS COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 
VOTING RECORD 

 
January 10, 2024 @ 7:00 p.m. 

Council Chambers, Newtown Municipal Center 
3 Primrose Street, Newtown CT 

 
These Minutes are subject to approval by the Inland Wetland Commission 

 
 
Present:  Sharon Salling, Mike McCabe, Scott Jackson, Kendall Horch, Suzanne Guidera 
 
Staff Present:  Steve Maguire, Deputy Director of Land Use, Sebastian Velez, Land Use Enforcement 
Officer, Dawn Fried, Clerk 
 
Ms. Salling opened the meeting at 7:00 p.m. 
 
Ms. Salling made a motion to change the order of the agenda.  Mr. McCabe so moved.  Mr. Jackson 
seconded.  All in favor. 
 
PENDING APPLICATION 
 
IW Application #23‐32 by The Residence at Berkshire, LLC, property located at 296 Berkshire Road, 
to construct a new roadway with a stream crossing for an 11 single‐family cluster‐home 
development. 
 
IW Application #23‐32 will be TABLED to the next regularly scheduled IWC meeting on January 24, 
2023 at the Community Center, 8 Simpson Street, All‐purpose Rm #3 at 7:00 p.m. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING 
 
IW Application #23‐31 by Castle Hill Real Estate Holdings, LLC, property located at  
20 & 60 Castle Hill Road, to construct a cluster‐home community consisting of 117 single family 
units, community center and associated site improvements. 
 
Mr. McCabe read the legal notice for the record.  Ms. Salling welcomed the public and gave an 
overview of the public hearing guidelines.  Ms. Salling stated the public will be heard first. 
 
Public 
 
Eric Thompson, 6 Old Castle Drive – Mr. Thompson stated he hasn’t heard the mention of Taunton 
Pond.  He would like confirmation that the property adjacent to the lake is being preserved.  He 
questioned whether the land being put aside would be sufficient enough to prevent damage to 
Taunton Lake.   Mr. Thompson asked if the “hundred‐year flood map” is the proper metric. 



2 
 

 
Charles Zukowski, 4 Cornfield Ridge Road – 1.  Mr. Zukowski made reference to a wetland across 
the street from Castle Hill Road and south of Wetland #2.  Mr. Zukowski stated there seems to be 
extra groundwater being added to that wetland.  He asked how the recharging of the groundwater 
system will be affected.  He noted the experts have spoken about the wetlands on the property 
but not the wetlands off the property and how they will be affected. 2.  Mr. Zukowski stated the 
Nettleton Preserve is also across the street from Castle Hill Road and he would like to know how 
the wetland and watercourses will be affected. 3.  Mr. Zukowski noted according to the before and 
after maps the watersheds are going to be changed.  He asked whether the different amounts of 
water draining from the top of the hill will have an effect on the water courses further 
downstream.  4.  Mr. Zukowski noted a large overflow pipe coming from the water tank.  He is 
questioning whether the flow from the pipe will still spread into the two watersheds and whether 
the flow will have a different effect on the two wetlands during an emergency overflow.  
 
Joe Morrissey, 6 King Street – Mr. Morrissey spoke about the ridge overlooking Edmond Town 
Hall.  He would like the boundary to be moved back to preserve the watersheds with a no‐build 
area or no cutting of the trees. 
 
Elaine Breitling, 8 Mt. Pleasant Road – Ms. Breitling has concerns with the runoff from Castle Hill 
Road onto Johnny Cake Lane.  The runoff goes onto her property and behind her property.  She 
stated her property is wet already.  She asked what will happen to her property.    
 
Dave Ackert, 6 Cider Mill Road – Mr. Ackert noted there has been an increase in rainfall.  He is 
concerned with the additional runoff from the proposed, impervious surfaces.  He questioned 
whether the wetlands will be able to handle the increased rainwater runoff.  Mr. Ackert requested 
an independent third party peer review.  
 
Casey Fergusen, 4 Knollwood Drive – Ms. Fergusen questioned whether the applicant has been in 
contact with the Army Corp of Engineers.  She believes the wetlands fall under their jurisdiction.  
She would like confirmation that the Army Corp of Engineers has been contacted.  Ms. Fergusen 
requested an independent third party peer review.  
 
Sherry Bermingham, 42 Main Street – Ms. Bermingham would like confirmation that the 
previously stated amount of 3,000 truckloads of fill will be dumped onto the property. 
 
Dottie Evans, 1 Reservoir Road ‐ Ms. Evans stated she lives very close to this development.   
Ms. Evans is concerned with the quality of the water in the wetlands and how it will impact the 
wildlife that has existed for hundreds of years.  Ms. Evans stated if the wetlands are polluted the 
creatures will not be able to breed and the eggs will die.  Ms. Evans requested a 500 foot buffer 
around the vernal pool and stated she would like to “protect these precious places”.  Ms. Evans 
requested an independent third party peer review.  
 
Jeff Carusone, 90 Taunton Lake Road – Mr. Carusone is concerned with the quality of water and 
the impacts to the watersheds due to the increased use of salt on the roads and harsh chemicals 
on the lawns.  Mr. Carusone stated he researched “hundred‐year” storms and found they are 



3 
 

predicting one “hundred‐year” storm every ten years.  Mr. Carusone stated he would like 
additional research done on the potential larger storms and the impact they will have on the 
watershed areas. 
 
Mark D’Amico, 7 Tory Lane – Mr. D’Amico requested an independent third party peer review.   
Mr. D’Amico would like a wetland assessment done on 60 Castle Hill Road, even though it will not 
be disturbed.  Mr. D’Amico stated it is still part of the application and it is downhill from 20 Castle 
Hill Road.  Mr. D’Amico didn’t see the delineation of the upland review area.  He wants to make 
sure that the upland review area has been taken into consideration.  Mr. D’Amico would like the 
applicant to research the wildlife and plant matter on the property to ensure there are no 
protected species.   
 
Robert Meyers, 10 Mt. Pleasant Road – Mr. Meyers lives directly across from the development and 
stated the lights from the cars will be pointed right into his bedroom.  Mr. Meyers asked if the 
applicant would consider moving the entrance 10 degrees either way.  Mr. Meyers spoke about 
the wetlands behind his house and the salamanders that have been crossing Mt. Pleasant for 
hundreds of years.  Mr. Meyers had concerns with a puddle of oil in his front yard and has 
concerns with the increased traffic coming from the new development. 
 
Aaron Nezvesky, 13A Phyllis Lane – Mr. Nezvesky has grown up in Newtown and has spent 
hundreds of hours walking on the property.  He is aware of the wetlands, the hydro‐soils and the 
vegetation on the property.  He stated the water doesn’t drain very well and the area by the 
proposed driveway is saturated.  Mr. Nezvesky requested an independent third party peer review.  
Mr. Nezvesky asked whether they will be blasting or crushing rock.  He also asked whether 
rechargers and drywells will be installed on the property.  Mr. Nezvesky stated this is undisturbed 
virgin soil and a dense development can cause major drainage issues.  Mr. Nezvesky mentioned 
Eagles he has seen on the property in the top northern corner.  Mr. Nezvesky has concerns with 
oils from heavy machinery and equipment seeping into the soil.  He asked what will happen when 
the oil goes into the ground.  Mr. Nezvesky stated this property is a recharge area.  He is 
concerned with the animals, the wildlife and the drainage that will runoff into the lake and 
neighboring properties. 
 
Suzan Hurtuk, 29 Wills Road ‐ Ms. Hurtuk requested an independent third party peer review.  
Ms. Hurtuk stated this is a sensitive area and we have to be careful.  She also stated this is a 
natural resource and is a special place to a lot of animals and humans.  Ms. Hurtuk asked how the 
applicant will enforce the restriction of salt and chemicals.  
 
Emily Kaufman, 2 Knollwood Drive – Ms. Kaufman requested an independent third party peer 
review.  Ms. Kaufman is concerned with the light, noise and vibrations effecting the wetland 
creatures such as the salamanders, frogs and other amphibians.  Ms. Kaufman has seen Eagles on 
the property in the past year.  Ms. Kaufman has concerns with the chemical impacts from runoff, 
especially the placement of the pool next to the amphibians. 
 
Ms. Salling asked for the public to take a pause in order for the applicant to respond to the 
questions or to go over new information. 



4 
 

 
Mr. Todd Ritchie, PE, SLR Consulting, Cheshire, CT, stated he submitted a response letter in 
regards to the questions from the Commissioners from the previous meeting (see attached). 
 
Ms. Salling pointed out that there were a lot of questions from the public regarding water quality 
and water treatment.  Ms. Salling asked the applicant to speak about those items. 
 
Mr. Ritchie gave an overview of the existing conditions from the last meeting.  He stated nothing 
from 20 Castle Hill Road drains towards 60 Castle Hill Road.  He presented a map showing arrows 
and the direction the water flows.  Mr. Ritchie stated they are implementing the necessary 
stormwater controls and water quality systems in accordance with the CT DEEP Stormwater 
Quality Manual, local regulations and standard practices.  Mr. Ritchie stated the rate of runoff 
from the property, for all storms including a hundred‐year storm, will not increase. 
 
Mr. Ritchie stated there will be an additional “bermed up area” for materials totaling 
approximately 6,000 cubic yards.  
 
Mr. Ritchie gave an overview of the drainage network that collects the water runoff from the 
storm drains, roof drains, roadways and yard areas.  The stormwater will discharge into catch 
basins with sumps, which will remove the sediment before being discharged to the stormwater 
basins.  From there the water will discharged into the hydrodynamic separator which will further 
treat and polish the stormwater by removing floatables.  The water will end up in an open 
stormwater detention/retention basin which will decrease the water flow.  There will not be any 
recharge or underground infiltration chambers. 
 
Ms. Salling appreciated the description of the drainage system but she pointed out a lot of the 
questions from the public were regarding water quality, hydrology, and updates of the revised 
plans.  She asked the applicant to address some of the questions asked by the public. 
 
Ms. Horch asked the applicant to explain the crossing at Meadow View Lane.  Mr. Ritchie brought 
up the corresponding slide and gave an overview of the crossing.  He stated the fill being removed 
is included in the environmental report.  The filling of wetlands at this location is approximately 
.02 acres.  Ms. Horch asked if they would be digging out the wetlands to get to the existing pipes. 
Mr. Ritchie stated yes that is correct. Ms. Horch asked what type of material would be used 
around the pipes.  Mr. Ritchie stated “typically you have a bedding material that goes around the 
pipe and then you have common backfill from that point”. 
 
Ms. Salling asked whether the hundred‐year flood map was a proper metric.  Mr. Ritchie gave a 
detail description of the flood plain and pointed out the non‐flood hazard areas.  He stated the 
hundred‐year flood map isn’t the metric they use to design the stormwater management plan.  It’s 
a representation of the FEMA map and the flood hazard areas marked on the site or in the vicinity. 
 
Mr. Ritchie stated he wasn’t familiar with the Nettleton Preserve but there is a limit of disturbance 
around the project.  During construction a boundary will be established with a swale, a berm, silt 
fencing and barriers to ensure no water goes in that direction.  Once construction is complete the 



5 
 

permanent stormwater system will be in place to capture the water from the roof drains, footing 
drains and yard drains, which will then discharge into the stormwater basins. 
 
Mr. Ritchie gave an overview of the diagram for the limit of clearing.  He stated out of 136 acres 
there will be 40.8 acres of total disturbance.  Seventy percent of the site will remain undisturbed, 
30% will be impacted and 62% will be permanent open space. 
 
Mr. Trudell stated out of the 136 acres there will be 85 acres in the conservation easement, which 
is 62% of the property.  The disturbed area is 30% of the property.  The construction will be 
phased.  Phase one will affect 13.7 acres, phase two will affect 9.1 acres and phase three will affect 
18 acres, which totals 40.8 acres of disturbance.  Mr. Trudell emphasized there will not be any 
clear cutting and the entire site will not be worked on all at once.  He stated this is important for 
the management of the soil and erosion controls. 
 
Mr. Ritchie spoke about the steep slopes and the tree clearing.  He pointed out the limit of clearing 
on the map.  He stated the limit of clearing is at the very top of the steep slopes.  There will be no 
work on the steep slopes in the delineated areas.  He stated it is not desirable to build on steep 
slopes. 
 
Ms. Raymond spoke about the hydrology on the property.  She stated they have a good 
understanding of the wetland hydrology, the watershed and the watershed activity.  Ms. Raymond 
ensured the stormwater management system will not divert drainage just to accommodate the 
development. 
 
Ms. Raymond stated they looked at the culvert crossing at Wetland #4 to ensure they were not 
affecting the hydrology of the vernal pool.  Ms. Raymond described the vernal pool as being the 
highest functioning wetland with the highest value on the property.  Ms. Raymond stated they will 
not be modifying that system. 
 
Ms. Raymond spoke about the long term maintenance and landscaping plans for the property, 
which was touched upon at the last meeting.  Ms. Raymond noted there were concerns of the 
lasting effects of fertilizers and pesticides to the hydrology, to the water quality, and to the vernal 
pool and wetlands on the site.  Ms. Raymond emphasized the importance of the designated, 
permanently protected open space and the additional conservation components.  Ms. Raymond 
also stated there are no proposed lot lines, this will be a communal property.  The homeowners 
will not be taking care of the property.  This property will be managed by a company with a 
centralized management plan.  This will create more consistency and less homeowner interaction 
regarding the dumping of lawn debris or the encroachment on the wetlands.  The applicant 
submitted a Turf and Pest Management Plan (see attached). 
 
Ms. Raymond spoke about the Army Corps of Engineers.  She stated the Army Corps of Engineers 
does not require a permit on this project because it falls under the threshold of 5,000 square feet 
of wetland disturbance.   
 



6 
 

Ms. Raymond spoke about the exclusion of 60 Castle Hill in the wetland delineation.  She 
explained there is no proposed activity on 60 Castle Hill Road, only permanent protection, and 
even though there are existing wetlands on 60 Castle Hill Road, they are not relevant to the 
development.  Ms. Raymond explained they looked at indirect impacts, which are categorized by 
short‐term sedimentation and erosion controls during construction and long‐term storm water 
management.  Since the project’s stormwater management control plan is regulated the quantity 
of volume, the peak rates and the quality of the stormwater will be managed. 
 
Mr. Trudell spoke about the conservation easement and the restrictions that will be implemented 
on the 85 acres of open space.  Mr. Trudell stated they are going to further restrict the existing 
regulations (section 4.05 under open space) that allows for paths, benches, boat racks, storage, 
etc.  Mr. Trudell stated there will be no disturbance whatsoever and these restrictions will be on 
record with the homeowners association.  The document showing the restrictions will be 
presented to the Borough Zoning Board. 
 
In response to the last meeting, Mr. Ritchie gave an overview of the limit of residential lawn areas 
on Meadow View Road and the limit of the open space conservation area.  (See attached revised 
plan LA‐4 and “Response to Commission” document.) 
 
In response to the last meeting, Mr. Ritchie gave an overview of the earthwork cutting and fill 
plan.  Mr. Ritchie stated there will be a net export of 3,000 truckloads of material taken off the site 
over a period of time.  (See attached “Response to Commission” document.)  
 
Mr. Ritchie stated the applicant does not have to provide additional material regarding the salting 
of the roads.  They have provided a treatment train which is in compliance with the de‐icing 
standards. 
 
Mr. Ritchie stated they did not encounter shallow rock on the property.  Any removal of rock will 
be in accordance with the Town standards and permitting process. 
 
Mr. Ritchie stated they will not be utilizing rechargers and drywells.  He stated the techniques and 
practices that are applicable to the site are outlined in the CT Stormwater Quality Manual. 
 
Ms. Raymond added to Mr. Ritchie’s response regarding the salt maintenance plan.  Ms. Raymond 
stated they have had success with non‐chloride products such as calcium and magnesium based 
products.  These chemicals provide a de‐icing function but without the harmful chloride effects.   
Ms. Raymond stated they would be amenable to condition these chemicals as part of the 
maintenance plan. 
 
Ms. Raymond gave a summary of the application.  She stated this dense project is allowing for a 
great deal of open space.  There will be less than 4 acres of direct impacts to the wetlands and 
12.5 acres, approximately 25%, of indirect impacts to the upland review area.  The applicant is 
looking for authorization of 3 acres of work within the upland review area and small wetland 
impacts for the crossing and the seep to the east.   
 



7 
 

Ms. Salling gave the public another opportunity to speak. 
 
Public 
 
Dave Ackert, 6 Cider Mill Road – Mr. Ackert stated he has not heard mention of the quality of the 
water.  What will happen to the surface water after it is impacted by the heat in the summertime?  
A third party review will add a different perspective to the value of the temperatures and impacts 
to wildlife and water courses. 
 
Dan Holmes, 2 Spring Road – Mr. Holmes appreciated the public’s questions and concerns and 
thinks they are wonderful points.  Mr. Holmes noted the engineers had mentioned there would be 
no net increase of the flow of water from the existing condition.  Mr. Holmes stated he can’t 
imagine that being possible if the water is being shunted into a pipe.  Mr. Holmes also questioned 
if this is the right location for this development in our town and asked if there is a better use.  He 
would like to see the property stay intact for the salamanders, other amphibians and all plant life. 
 
Stephanie Morelli, 75 Castle Hill Road – Ms. Morelli asked how many trees are being cleared and 
what will happen when the trees won’t be there to absorb the water.  What impacts will that have 
on the wetlands? 
 
Patrick Sims, 7A Possum Ridge Road – Mr. Sims asked if the Commission will be reviewing the 
regulations as to the restrictions of activities to guarantee water quality.  Mr. Sims is concerned 
with the water pollution.  Ms. Salling stated restrictions in the open space will be addressed by the 
P&Z Commission, and does not fall under the purview of the IWC.  Mr. Sims reiterated his concern 
with the water quality and watercourses.  Mr. Trudell stated he is not looking to change any 
regulations or to modify existing regulations.  He is looking to restrict the use of the property 
through the Homeowners association.  Mr. Trudell stated he would like to leave the property in its 
current state, which is purely for preservation.  There was a discussion on whether it would be a 
deeded restriction or an activity restriction.  Ms. Raymond stated any additional restrictions will be 
part of the holistic property management tools.  This will ensure homeowners won’t add 
cumulative impacts.  Ms. Raymond stated the goal is to have the area permanently protected with 
no improvements in the future to maintain its inherent quality that exists today. 
 
Eric Thompson, 6 Old Castle Road – Mr. Thompson noted that Ms. Raymond’s intent is not to harm 
the lake but he is skeptical the lake will not be impacted from the surface runoff.  He would like 
someone else to answer the question so there is no conflict of interest. 
 
Dottie Evans, 1 Reservoir Road ‐ Ms. Evans pointed out the positives being preservation of 70% of 
property and not allowing for disturbance on 60 Castle Hill Road.  The negatives being the 
disturbance in the upland areas and the water issues.  Ms. Evans would like the scope of work 
reduced and an increased buffer added to protect the water courses.  Ms. Evans appreciates the 
hired landscapers so the homeowners can’t use pesticides. 
 



8 
 

Suzan Hurtuk, 29 Wills Road – Ms. Hurtuk stated she knows a lot about these complexes and they 
are a nightmare.  They overuse products like pesticides and salts.  Ms. Hurtuk stated unless you go 
green it’s not going to be better. 
 
Mark D’Amico, 7 Tory Lane – Mr. D’Amico stated since there is going to be prolonged disturbance 
on the land there needs to be “real care” in looking at what the phases do and where the fill is 
going to be placed.  Mr. D’Amico stated a lot of the additional basins will be in close proximity of 
the wetlands.  He asked what impacts will that have on the wetlands.  Mr. D’Amico has concerns 
with the proposed crossing over the wetlands.  Mr. D’Amico understand the hydrodynamic 
separator will catch the particulates, sediment and floatables, but what will happen with the 
chemicals.  Mr. D’Amico stated he doesn’t see any preservation, conservation or potential 
improvements of the wetlands.  Mr. D’Amico pointed out this application is dependent on two 
parcels being viewed as a single parcel to obtain the necessary percentage of conservation.  He 
stated these two parcels need to be looked at and addressed as a single parcel.  He would like a 
wetland analysis done on the entire property.  Mr. D’Amico believes this project warrants an 
independent, unbiased, third party peer review. 
 
Jeff Carusone, 90 Taunton Lake Road – Mr. Carusone stated even if everything goes perfectly what 
will happen from the density of these homes and the impervious effects to the ground, the effects 
from the light pollution, and the effects of the noise pollution during the construction.  Mr. 
Carusone stated there has to be a prior study done on the effects of activities of almost 500 
people and 250 cars.  Mr. Carusone believes there will be a very significant impact to the wetlands.   
 
Joe Morrissey, 6 King Street – Mr. Morrissey noted a slide in the presentation that showed arrows 
representing the runoff going east towards King Street and behind the Town Hall.  Mr. Morrissey 
stated there will be huge impacts on the existing wetlands on his property and on Edmond Town 
Hall’s property.  He asked how the stormwater system is designed, what the correct size for the 
pipe is and what formulas will be used to prevent impacts on the wetlands behind the Town Hall. 
 
Aaron Nezvesky, 13A Phyllis Lane – Mr. Nezvesky stated a topic that has not been addressed are 
PFAS.   Mr. Nezvesky asked what type of building materials will be used and the impact of the 
PFAS.  Mr. Nezvesky has concerns with the PFAS entering Taunton Lake, scattering around the 
neighborhoods and going into the wells.  Mr. Nezvesky stated within the next few years PFAS will 
be monitored at water treatment plants and in peoples’ wells.  Mr. Nezvesky is concerned with the 
future and the detrimental impacts of PFAS to the ecosystems, bodies of water and wildlife.   
Mr. Nezvesky is also concerned with the sounds coming from the pickle ball courts and how they 
will impact the surrounding wildlife. 
 
Ms. Horch asked the applicant what size are the storm basins.  Mr. Ritchie stated the basins are 
sized for a hundred‐year storm.  Ms. Horch asked how much volume the basins are sized for.   
Mr. Ritchie stated it would be in our stormwater report.  Mr. Ritchie stated if you are looking for 
the superficial volume of each basin we would have to prepare that for you. 
 
Ms. Horch noted that there is a stormwater basin in the upland review area.  The applicant 
previously stated the basin couldn’t be removed due to the grading and storm‐drain outlet 



9 
 

elevations.  Ms. Horch asked if they considered relocating or removing some of the units to 
alleviate grading constraints.  Mr. Ritchie stated I don’t see what the identified impacts are from 
working in an area that’s already been disturbed and farmed and will be restored essentially to the 
same condition.  Mr. Trudell stated there wasn’t any impacts identified from that activity, but if 
that is something the Commission wants to raise we will be happy to further address. 
 
Ms. Guidera is concerned with the direct impacts to the vernal pool.  Ms. Guidera is also 
concerned with the impacts to the wetlands located at the crossing.  Ms. Guidera believes this is a 
high functioning wetland and she would like to know the short‐term and long‐term effects.   
 
Ms. Guidera asked the applicant whether they have considered any reasonable and prudent 
alternatives for a different location of the crossing, considering the significant impacts to the 
wetlands. 
 
Ms. Guidera asked the applicant whether they have considered scaling back the project to avoid 
the direct impacts to the wetlands. 
 
Ms. Guidera stated that if you are considering both parcels as a whole then a wetlands assessment 
needs to be done on 60 Castle Hill Road.  Ms. Guidera requested a wetland impact study to 
confirm no negative impacts to the functioning and values of the wetlands on 60 Castle Hill Road. 
 
Ms. Guidera stated she agrees with the public that an independent, peer review should be done.  
Ms. Guidera wasn’t sure if a motion was needed, but she would be in favor. 
 
Mr. McCabe wanted clarification on the erosion and sediment control plans.  He asked what soils 
will be used to construct the added swales and berms and what will be done with those soils after 
construction.  Mr. McCabe also asked what’s going to be done with the sediment collected in the 
temporary basins after construction.  Will it be taken offsite or regraded onto the property?   
 
Mr. Ritchie stated each basement will be excavated and those materials will be used for creating 
the berm.  The berm will be temporary until the final grading.  The excess materials will be 
removed from the site.  Mr. Ritchie stated permits are required by the State under general 
construction for the erosion and sediment controls and for the phasing of the property. 
 
Mr. Jackson asked the applicant about the vetting of the contractors and subcontractors.  
Mr. Jackson asked what processes are in place to ensure none of them have been subject to 
violations, particularly wetland violations.  Mr. Trudell stated he has worked with his contractors 
for many years and he can attest to the quality of the people he hires and the work they do.  
Mr. Trudell stated he hasn’t had any issues with the Town officials because he runs a clean, tight 
site.  Mr. Trudell stated he does specifically check with the excavators, but not any of the others. 
 
Ms. Raymond responded to Ms. Guidera’s questions regarding the vernal pool.  Ms. Raymond 
stated they identified the vernal pool and its special functions.  They also identified the portion of 
the wetland that supports it, which is 1.58 acres of a larger wetland, which 20% is occupied by the 
vernal pool.  The vernal pool is fed by groundwater and supports wood frogs and spotted 



10 
 

salamanders.  There is no direct activity proposed within the vernal pool depression and minimal 
work within 250 feet to the east, which will be a .2 acre area of clearing.  Ms. Raymond stated the 
majority of the forested area that surrounds the vernal pool is permanently protected as a 
conservation area with no proposed activities.  The area to the east that is being developed will be 
permanently protected with additional fencing. 
 
Ms. Raymond stated there is a wetland crossing 250 feet south of the waterline in the vernal pool.  
Ms. Raymond stated the crossing is necessary to gain access to that portion of the site.  The 
applicant will be improving the existing crossing for the use of a roadway.  The size of the area is 
approximately 1,000 square feet with a small amount of fill on the south side.  The hydrology of 
the vernal pool is groundwater fed.  The applicant is not proposing any backwater or damming 
with the proposed roadway.  
 
Ms. Guidera understood the applicant is not proposing any direct impacts, she was questioning 
the indirect impacts and the potential runoff going towards it.  Ms. Raymond gave an overview of 
the drainage configuration.  Ms. Raymond stated they want to maintain hydrology and minimize 
the impacts to the wetlands. 
 
The Commission discussed a third party peer review and the process.   Mr. Maguire stated the 
Commission has the ability to request a third party review.  Mr. Maguire stated there are two 
options for a peer review.  One option was a third party engineer review that would look at 
stormwater and erosion controls.  The second option is a third party soil scientist review that 
would look at the wetland assessment reports.  Mr. Maguire pointed out the majority of questions 
and concerns have been regarding the overall stormwater system and its impacts, which would be 
an engineer’s review. 
 
Mr. Maguire mentioned the delineation of 60 Castle Hill but stated its still part of the application.   
Mr. Maguire asked the Commission if they would like the applicant to review the 100‐foot upland 
review area for any potential impacts.   
 
Mr. Maguire asked the applicant if they looked at the area across the road on Reservoir.   
 
Ms. Raymond stated no they did not look at 60 Castle Hill Road, the delineation was solely on 20 
Castle Hill Road.   Ms. Raymond stated there is no drainage that occurs to the west.  Ms. Raymond 
was amenable to reviewing 60 Castle Hill Road and the western area on Reservoir Road by the 
water tower.  Ms. Raymond stated she understands wanting a level of assurance.  Mr. Maguire 
stated that is something the Commission should consider. 
 
Mr. Maguire stated there were several comments made regarding the property management of 
the turf, salt, snow, and pests.  The applicant has submitted a Turf and Pest Management Plan and 
a Homeowners Association Plan for the Commission to review.   Mr. Maguire asked the applicant if 
these are guidelines or requirements and how can they be enforced.  Mr. Trudell stated it can be 
conditions of approval.  Mr. Maguire was concerned with the long term enforcement.  Mr. Trudell 
stated the conditions can be added to the homeowner’s declaration so they become something 
that goes well beyond the completion of the project. 



11 
 

 
Mr. Maguire reviewed the wetland regulations regarding the timing of the public hearing.  He 
noted the regulations require the public hearing be closed 35 day after opening, which is on 
January 17, 2024.  Mr. Maguire stated in order for the public hearing to remain open the applicant 
must submit an authorization letter requesting an extension to January 24, 2024.  
 
For the record Mr. Trudell submitted an extension letter requesting an extension to the next IWC 
meeting on January 24, 2024. 
 
Ms. Salling requested the 100‐foot review of 60 Castle Hill Road. 
 
Ms. Salling stated the third party engineer’s review seems to be what the public desires.   
Ms. Salling asked the Commission for their comments.  Ms. Horch stated this is over a 50‐page 
plan set and a lot of information.  Ms. Horch agreed with obtaining a third party engineer’s review. 
 
Ms. Horch moved to recommend a third‐party professional engineer peer review of the Castle Hill 
project.  Mr. McCabe seconded.  All in favor. 
 
Ms. Salling made a motion to continue the public hearing to the next regularly scheduled IWC 
meeting on January 24, 2024 at the Community Center, 8 Simpson Street, All‐purpose Rm #3 at 
7:00 p.m.   Mr. McCabe so moved.  Ms. Guidera seconded.  All in favor.  
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
The Commission found no substantive errors.  Ms. Horch moved to accept the minutes from 
December 13, 2023.  Ms. Guidera seconded.  All in favor.  The minutes from December 13, 2023 
were approved. 
 
OTHER BUSINESS 
 
Slate of Officers: 
Ms. Salling – Chairperson 
Mr. Ferris – Vice Chair 
Mr. McCabe – Secretary 
 
Ms. Horch moved to accept the slate of officers for the IWC Commission for 2024.  Mr. Jackson 
seconded.  All in favor. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
With no additional business, Mr. Jackson moved to adjourn.  Ms. Horch seconded.  All in favor.  The 
Regular IWC Meeting of January 10, 2024 was adjourned at 9:46 pm.  
Respectfully Submitted, Dawn Fried 



SLR International Corporation 

 

99 Realty Drive, Cheshire, Connecticut, 06410 

 

 

 1  
 

January 5, 2024 

Inland Wetlands Commission 
Land Use Agency 
Newtown Municipal Offices 
3 Primrose Street 
Newtown, CT 06470 

SLR Project No.: 141.20080.00003 

RE: Responses to Commission Member Public Hearing Comments 
IW Application #23-31 
Castle Hill Village – Residential Open Space Development  
20 & 60 Castle Hill Road 
Newtown, Connecticut 

 
Dear Commission Members, 
 
During our presentation of the above-referenced application to the Inland Wetlands Commission 
at the public hearing on December 13, 2023, we noted various design comments regarding the 
application materials that were vocalized by members of the Commission and town staff. This 
letter serves to document those comments and provide responses (by SLR International 
Corporation [SLR]) on behalf of the Applicant.  
 
Site plan sheet references are made to the attached revised site plans, dated January 5, 2024. 
 
 
C1. Have the water utility and state health department been notified of the project as 

required due to its location within a watershed? 
 
R1. The proposed development is not located within a public drinking water supply 

watershed (Source: https://portal.ct.gov/DPH/Drinking-Water/DWS/Public-Water-
Supply-Map) and the public water utility (Aquarion Water Company) has issued a 
will-serve letter to provide water supply to the development. 

 
C2. Detailed project phasing and construction sequencing narratives should be provided. 
 
R2. Additional construction-phasing and sequencing narratives have been included 

on the Title Sheet and Sheet SE. 
 
C3. Include discussion of when temporary sediment traps/basins will be converted into 

permanent stormwater basins in construction sequencing narratives. 
 
R3. Conversion of temporary sediment traps/basins to permanent stormwater basins 

and construction sequencing narratives have been included on Sheet SE. 
 
 
 

https://portal.ct.gov/DPH/Drinking-Water/DWS/Public-Water-Supply-Map
https://portal.ct.gov/DPH/Drinking-Water/DWS/Public-Water-Supply-Map


Responses to Commission Member Public Hearing Comments 
IW Application #23-31 
Castle Hill Village – Residential Open Space Development 

 
January 5, 2024 

SLR Project No.: 141.20080.00003 

 

 2  
 

C4. Provisions should be made for turbidity monitoring of stormwater runoff during 
construction. 

 
R4. Turbidity monitoring of stormwater runoff during construction will be provided in 

accordance with requirements of the Connecticut Department of Energy and 
Environmental Protection (CTDEEP) Construction Stormwater General Permit for 
the site. Notes referring to the requirement for this permit have been added to the 
Title Sheet and Sheet SE. 

 
C5. Overflows from temporary sediment traps towards steep slopes should be prevented. 
 
R5. Temporary diversion swales and/or berms are shown continuously along the top 

of slopes to collect and divert stormwater runoff to designated stabilized 
discharge locations, which are not located above steep slopes. Overflows from 
sediment traps will discharge into these diversion channels and will not discharge 
onto steep slopes. Additional labels have been added to these stormwater 
diversions on Sheets SE-1 through SE-5 for clarity. 

 
C6. Provide total impacted area for each construction phase and show limits of disturbance 

for each phase. 
 
R6. Total impacted areas and limits of disturbance for each construction-phase are 

shown on Sheet SE. The total impacted site area for the project (Phases 1 through 
3) is 40.8 acres. 

 
C7. List all parties that should receive sediment and erosion control inspection reports, in 

addition to keeping report copies onsite. 
 
R7. Parties that will receive sediment and erosion control inspection report copies are 

listed on Sheet SE. In addition to the developer keeping copies of the reports 
onsite, the reports will be distributed to the Newtown Land Use Agency and 
CTDEEP, in accordance with town and state permit requirements. 

 
C8. Level spreaders are shown at locations discharging to steep slopes. 
 
R8. Although the level spreaders were shown located upgradient of ground slopes 

that are 20% or less (not considered excessive slopes) the level spreaders have 
been replaced with riprap preformed scour holes to address the concern of the 
Commission. 

 
C9. Can stormwater basin 120 be relocated out of the 100-foot upland review area? 
 
R9. Stormwater basin 120 cannot be relocated out of the 100-foot upland review area 

due to storm drain outlet elevation and basin grading limitations.  
 
C10. Provide cross section for proposed 24” pipe culvert at Meadow View Lane including 

proposed utilities. 
 
R10. A cross section for the proposed 24” pipe culvert has been provided on Sheet SV.  
 



Responses to Commission Member Public Hearing Comments 
IW Application #23-31 
Castle Hill Village – Residential Open Space Development 

 
January 5, 2024 

SLR Project No.: 141.20080.00003 

 

 3  
 

C11. Will there be a change in hydrology impacting the vernal pool from installation of the 24” 
pipe culvert downstream of the vernal pool? 

 
R11. The hydrology of the vernal pool will not be affected by installation of the 24” pipe 

culvert downstream of the vernal pool. The pipe culvert will serve as a direct 
replacement to the existing subsurface stone-filled farm drain at this location and 
will function similarly to the farm drain. 

 
C12. Why is the proposed culvert under the driveway at Johnnie Cake Lane a 24” pipe when 

the existing pipe and downstream culvert pipe are 18”? 
 
R12. In reviewing the proposed culvert replacement design, an erroneous survey 

elevation was used as the basis for the upstream end of the existing pipe culvert. 
After field checking and obtaining the correct upstream invert elevation for this 
existing pipe, the proposed culvert was changed to an 18” pipe, realigned for 
adequate pipe cover, reanalyzed, and determined to meet design requirements. A 
cross section of the proposed 18” pipe culvert under the proposed driveway at 
Johnnie Cake Lane is included on Sheet SV. 

 
C13. Where will water from the swimming pool be discharged to? 
 
R13. The discharge of swimming pool water will be conducted in accordance with the 

CTDEEP General Permit for the Discharge of Swimming Pool Wastewater, which 
upon the pool water meeting specific chemical criteria, allows for discharge to 
either a sanitary sewer or to a drainage system which discharges directly to a 
river or stream. The pool water will either be permitted to discharge to the sanitary 
sewer system by the Newtown Water Pollution Control Authority or it will enter the 
onsite storm drainage system, which discharges towards Johnnie Cake Lane, 
where it will infiltrate into the ground within Basin 130 and if discharged from the 
basin, it will ultimately be channeled through offsite drainage pipes directly into 
Tom Brook. Swimming pool water will not be directed toward any onsite wetlands 
or into the watershed of the onsite vernal pool. 

 
C14. Show limit of maintained residential lawn areas for homes west of Meadow View Lane. 
 
R14. A limit of maintained lawn areas for this area is shown on Sheet LA-4. This line is 

consistent with the limit of proposed open space in this area (refer to Sheet CP for 
proposed open space conservation areas) and is very close to the 100-foot upland 
review area limit from wetlands. Open space medallions on cedar posts are 
proposed along this line at 100-foot spacing to establish the limit of maintained 
lawn areas and open space. 

 
C15. Can the site be designed to balance earthwork cutting and filling better? 
 
R15. The site grading is driven by required roadway and individual driveway elevations 

(maximum 10% and 5% respectively); the desire to preserve the existing barn 
structure and large beech tree and create a community green area at the high 
point of the property; and to limit clearing and grading of side slopes into upland 
review areas. We have identified additional areas to retain excavated material 
onsite. An additional 5,030 cubic yards (CY) has been retained in the formation of 



Responses to Commission Member Public Hearing Comments 
IW Application #23-31 
Castle Hill Village – Residential Open Space Development 

 
January 5, 2024 

SLR Project No.: 141.20080.00003 

 

 4  
 

an earth berm adjacent to stormwater basin 130 and an additional 1,040 CY has 
been retained in the formation of an earth berm adjacent to stormwater basin 410, 
for a total of 6,070 CY of additional soil material to be retained onsite.  

 
The existing ground surface to proposed finished ground surface cut and fill 
volumes are close to balanced, with a current net cut of 6,400 CY (66,810 CY cut 
vs. 60,410 CY fill – total fill volume is approximately 10% less than total cut 
volume). The soil material that will not remain on site consists of excess material 
from basement excavations and from subgrade excavation and material 
replacement below roadways and parking areas (75% of total export material) and 
topsoil that will not be reused (25% of total export material). 

 
C16. Provide plan for easy viewing of proposed tree clearing limits. 
 
R16. Refer to Sheet TC for area of proposed tree clearing areas and limits. 
 
C17. Will the proposed development create a hydrologic disconnect to Wetland #1 north of 

the proposed stormwater basin discharge? 
 
R17. The proposed development will not reduce the stormwater runoff area 

contributing to Wetland #1 in areas north of the proposed stormwater basin 
discharge. In addition, foundation drains from houses upgradient of this wetlands 
corridor are now shown with independent footing drain pipe discharges to 
maintain groundwater flow towards the wetlands. 

 
Please feel free to contact us if you have further questions or require additional information. 

Regards, 

SLR International Corporation 

 

Todd D. Ritchie, PE, BCEE, CFM, REHS/RS 
Principal Civil Engineer      
tritchie@slrconsulting.com                        
        

 

 

 
 
 
         Megan B. Raymond, MS, PWS, CFM 
         Principal Scientist 
         Wetlands & Waterways Lead 
           mraymond@slrconsulting.com  

 
Enclosures: Site Plans (Revision Date: January 5, 2024) 
  Drainage Report (Revision Date: January 5, 2024) 
 

 
cc:  George Trudell – Castle Hill Real Estate Holdings, LLC 
  Thomas Beecher – Collins Hannafin, P.C.  
 
 
20080.00003.j524.ltr.docx 

mailto:tritchie@slrconsulting.com
mailto:mraymond@slrconsulting.com







































	Combined IWC Minutes 1-10-24
	IW Meeting Minutes 1-10-24
	Castle Hill - Responses to Commissioners
	Castle Hill Construction Phases
	Castle Hill Site Plan LA-4
	Castle Hill Topographic Map
	Castle Hill Village Extension Letter
	Castle Hill Village Turf & Pest Mgmt.
	Castle Hill Site Maintenance Plan

	Castle Hill Phases of Construction

